
 

 

 

Boston Borough Council 
Chief Executive 
PHIL DRURY 

MCIAT, ACIOB 

Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire 
PE21 8QR 
Tel: Tel 01205 314227 
Fax: 
 

 
My ref: MG/KR/Planning 050120 
 

Please ask for: Karen Rist Democratic Services Officer (Direct number Tel 01205 314226) 
 
Friday 3 January 2020 
 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor  
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning Committee 
 

on Tuesday, 14 January 2020 at 10.00 am 
 

in the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR 

 
PHIL DRURY  
Chief Executive 
 
Chairman:  Councillor Tom Ashton 
Vice Chair:  Councillor Frank Pickett  
Councillors:  Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, Michael Cooper, Paul Goodale, Jonathan Noble, 
Brian Rush, Chelcei Sharman, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson and 
Stephen Woodliffe 
 

 

 
Note(s) for Members of the Committee:  

In order to vote on a planning application committee Members must be present for the entire 
presentation and discussion on the item. 
 
When an official site visit is undertaken which forms part of the decision making at Committee, 
only Members who have attended the site visit and received full representation will be able to 
debate and decide the application. 
 
 

 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the committee meeting as observers 

except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 

 

This meeting may be subject to being recorded. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

AA  GG  EE  NN  DD  AA  
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

 

A   APOLOGIES 
 

To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes (if any). 

 

 

B   MINUTES 
 

To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 

 

1 - 14 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 

To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 

 

 

D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

To answer any written questions received from members of the public no 
later than 5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this 
meeting the deadline is 5 p.m. on Thursday 9 January 2020 
 

 

 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 

 
 

1   PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0317 
 
Erection of 31 dwellings, new access and infrastructure following demolition 
of existing dwelling. 
 
Land off Station Road   Kirton   Boston   PE21 1LQ 
 
D and R Homes  (Kirton)  Ltd 

 

15 - 46 

2   PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0409 
 
Erection of electronic gates at site entrance. 
 
Land off Sibsey Road   Boston   PE21 9RN 
 
Charlotte Dew  Larkfield Homes 

 

47 - 58 

 
 

Note: A planning decision comes into effect only when the decision notice 
and associated documents are despatched by the Local Planning Authority 
and not when the Committee makes its decision. 

 



 

 

 
 
 
Notes:  
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 
It is implicit in these reports that the recommendations to and the consideration by Committee will 
take into account the Council’s obligations arising out of the Human Rights Act and the rights 
conferred by Articles 6,8,14 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR).  These are the rights to a fair hearing, respect for family and private life, 
the prohibition against discrimination and the peaceful enjoyment of possessions, respectively.  
The ECHR allows many to be overridden if there is a sufficiently compelling public interest. 
 
In simple terms the Act requires a person’s interest be balanced against the interests of the 
community.  This is something that is part of the planning system and that balancing is a significant 
part of the consideration of issues identified to Committee by officer reports.  Provided that those 
issues are taken into account, the Convention will be satisfied. 
 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, Democratic 
Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 8QR, Tel 01205 314226, e-mail: 
karen.rist@boston.gov.uk. 
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Karen Rist Democratic 
Services Officer as soon as possible giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be 
attending the meeting as their substitute. 
 
 
 
 
Alternative Versions  
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, Braille or 
a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 314226 
 
 
 
 

 

Emergency Procedures 
 

In the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are asked to leave the building via 

the nearest emergency exit and make their way to the Fire Assembly Point located in 

the car park at the rear of the Municipal Buildings. 

 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

10 DECEMBER 2019 

Present: 
 

 

Chairman: Councillor Michael Cooper 

Vice-Chairman: 
 

Councillor Jonathan Noble 

Councillors: Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, Paul Goodale, Neill Hastie, 
Brian Rush, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens and 
Stephen Woodliffe 
 

Officers: Growth Manager, Legal Officer, Senior Planning Officer and 
Democratic Services Officer 
 

53   APOLOGIES 
 

Apologies for absence were tabled by Councillors Tom Ashton and frank Pickett with no 
substitute members.  Apologies were tabled by Councillor Peter Watson with Councillor 
Neill Hastie substituting.  
 
With apologies tabled from both the elected Chairman and Vice Chairman, committee 
elected Councillor Michael Cooper to the role of Chairman for the meeting with 
Councillor Jonathon Noble accepting the role of Vice Chairman for the meeting. 
 
54   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on the 15 October 2019 were signed by the 
Chairman with the agreement of the committee. 
 
55   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
Standing declarations of interest were tabled for: 
Councillors Alison Austin and Paul Skinner in their roles as Lincolnshire County 
Councillors 
Councillors Peter Bedford and Michael Cooper as member of the South East 
Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee and for Councillor Jonathon Noble as a 
substitute member of that committee. 
Councillors Peter Bedford and Michael Cooper in their respective roles as 
representatives of the Internal Drainage Board. 
For all Councillors in respect of Mrs D Evans registered to speak on planning application 
B 19 0307 in her role as a fellow Councillor. 
 
Councillor Alison Austin declared that her husband was a member of Boston Woods 
Trust which owned land adjacent to the application site for consideration under planning 
application B 19 0399 and as such she would absent from the meeting for that item. 
 
Councillor Stephen Woodliffe declared he had receive objections from representatives 
from Boston Grammar School in respect of planning application B 19 0068 in respect of 
funding within a section 106 agreement and that he would absent from the meeting for 
that item as he was a Governor of the School. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item B



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 
 

56   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

No public questions were tabled 
 
It is recorded that Councillors Alison Austin and Stephen Woodliffe absented from the 
meeting at this part in the proceedings. 
 
57   PLANNING APPLICATION B/18/0399 

 
Proposed residential development consisting of 61 dwellings and construction of 
new vehicular access and associated work. 
 
Land to the west of 90, 92 and 84 Fenside Road  Boston Borough Council 
 
Seagate Homes Ltd 
 
The Senior Planning Officer presented the report and confirmed that there were no 
updates to the report tabled within the agenda.   
 
Addressing the developer contributions for Education and Health, the Officer advised 
that the applicant had submitted a viability statement to try to demonstrate that the 
scheme would not be viable with such obligations and they would only be able to 
provide 8 affordable dwellings:  build costs, professional fees and site value being cited 
as supporting evidence.   The statement had been independently assessed and the 
conclusion of that had been that the scheme would be unviable if the 20% level of 
affordable was met alongside the provisions of the financial contributions.  The 
conclusion did indicate the scheme would be viable with a reduced overall ask. 
Following detailed discussions, the applicant agreed to 8 of the 61 dwellings being 
allocated as affordable housing providing 13% against the agreed 20% with no financial 
contributions.  It was considered that whilst the scheme fell short in the offer of the 
affordable allocation, overall it would on balance appear acceptable and in line with the 
conclusion of the independent assessor.  Members were also advised that they 
submission of an ecological report was awaited, but subject to that being returned with 
no adverse comments, that may be minded to grant permission on the basis but with 
further conditions relating to ecology if required. 
                                    
Representation was received in objection to the application from Mr Willians  which 
included: 
 
Advising committee we was the resident of no 88 Fenside Road, Mr Willians advised he 
was speaking on behalf of himself and neighbours at no 92 Fenside who had been 
unable to attend the meeting. 
A number of concerns were noted about the application including the close proximity of 
proposed properties being so much closer than existing neighbouring dwellings and 
significant overshadowing which would result in a substantial loss of daylight hours 
especially in the summer months.  The lack of clarity in respect of fencing and boundary 
lines was also causing distress for residents who when questioning the provision had 
received little feedback. There appeared to have been mention of a gap being left 
between the properties to allow fencing to be erected but concerns were further raised 
that residents had not been approached to give permission to the builders to access 
their land to construct the fencing.   

Page 2



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 

 

 
 
Residents had asked if it would be possible to have a brick wall between the properties 
which would benefit all parties; improve privacy and moreover be easier maintenance for 
those both side of the wall.  Referencing flood risk issues committee were advised that 
the area had been subject to flooding with residents regularly receiving text updates on 
potential flooding.  Mr Willians questioned what measures would be put in to place to 
mitigate future flooding, to avoid not only putting the future residents (young families) of 
the proposed new homes, at risk, but to also prevent increased flooding to existing 
residents. Concluding, committee were asked to note the loss of green space and 
existing trees which had always been on the existing site and the very small allocation of 
green space being proposed within the development.   
 
Prior to deliberation a member sought clarification of any implications on the Council in 
the event of any issues arising between the buildings.  The Legal Officer confirmed that 
as there were no standard distances set within the policy it was down to planning 
decisions in respect of amenity.  Further questions were raised by Cllr Rush in relation 
to the responsibility for the ditch on the common boundary, advice was provided by 
Officers and the Legal Representative on this issue. 
 
General committee deliberation included concerns in respect of overlooking and 
separation distances; potential over development with 61 dwellings possibly being too 
many on the site and issues in respect of potential flooding issues on the site which 
could disperse onto neighbouring properties.   Further concern noted the 3m floor level 
and the lack of adopted roads within the site and future issues arising there from, 
including the collection of waste bins.   The Planning Officer referred the members to 
condition 3 within the report which whilst stating no lower than 3.10 above Ordnance 
Datum the actual floor level would be approximately 0.7m above ground level in line with 
MSN.  Members were then referred to condition 8 within the report, requiring written 
submission of procedures for the bin collection areas for all the private drives.  
 
Referencing over-development of the site the Planning Officer confirmed that the initial 
application had been for 69 dwellings which had been reduced to 61 to enable inclusion 
of open space amenity. 
 

Addressing the reduction in affordable housing a member noted that whilst it was 
disappointing, 13 dwellings were welcome in that area.  Members further acknowledged 
that the design of the dwellings was good; the DPH was in keeping with the area and 
that parking had been addressed with two spaces per dwelling.   Overall committee 
recognised that the application was within the SELLP, no statutory objections had been 
raised which had not been addressed by condition and that there was a need for such 
developments within the town area. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble and seconded by Councillor Paul Skinner 
that committee grant the application in line with officer recommendation, subject to the 
conditions and reasons therein, subject to the conclusion of a Legal Agreement, to the 
satisfactory conclusion of ecological matter including conditions as necessary and 
subject to the inclusion of a condition or obligation within the legal agreement to ensure 
that provision of a management plan for the public open space and any non-adopted 
roads. 
 

Page 3



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 
 

 
 
Vote:        7 in favour.     1 against. 
 

RESOLVED:  That committee grant the application in line with officer 
recommendation, subject to the conclusion of a Legal Agreement, to the 
satisfactory conclusion of ecological matter including conditions as necessary 
and subject to the inclusion of a condition or obligation within the legal 
agreement to ensure that provision of a management plan for the public open 
space and any non-adopted roads and subject to the following conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 

 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
 

 Ref: 410.SL.01 Rev E – ‘Site Layout and Location Plan’ 
 Ref: 410.Skip.01 – ‘Skipton: Floor Plan and elevations’ 
 Ref: 410.App.01 – ‘Appleby: Floor Plans and elevations’ 

 

And read in conjunction with the various recommendations of the supporting 
documents which accompany the application unless varied by other conditions 
attached to and forming part of this decision. 
 

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with approved 
plans in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036) 

 
  3. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) dated September 2018 
completed by S M Hemmings and the following mitigation measures detailed within 
the FRA including: 
 

 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 3.10m above Ordnance Datum 
(AOD) 

 All dwellings to be at least two storey 
 Flood resilient construction to be included to a height of 300mm above the 

predicted flood depths 
 

 The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation of each unit 
and subsequently remain in place.   
 

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants and to accord with Polices 2, 3, 4 and 31 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019). 
 

Page 4



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 

 

4.    Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, a detailed scheme 
for drainage and water infrastructure shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include: 

 

 A scheme for the provision of mains foul sewerage infrastructure on and off the 
site 

 Details of connection point(s) and discharge rate(s)  
 

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling within any phase of the development, the 
drainage and water infrastructure measures relating to that phase and dwelling must 
have been carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme. 
 

Reason: To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding and 
to accord with Polices 2, 3, 4 and 31 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036) and the intentions of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
 

5. The water consumption of each dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed the 
requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional requirement 
in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan, 2019). The person carrying out the work must inform the Building Control Body 
that this duty applies. A notice confirming the requirement for the water consumption 
has been met shall be submitted to the Building Control Body and Local Planning 
Authority, no later than five days after the completion of each individual dwelling. 
 

Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the 
district. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-0236). 

6. Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, final details of 
measures that aim to reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon 
energy (including measures such as facilities for EV car charging) and details relating 
to the timing of their implementation, shall be submited to and approved in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved measures. 
 
Reason: To help reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon energy in 
new development schemes and to accord with Policies 2, 3 , 30 and 31 of the South 
east Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and to accord with the intentions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 
 

7. No development shall take place above damp proof course, until details of the 
materials proposed to be used in the construction of the external surfaces have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: No details of materials have been submitted, these details are required in 
the interests of the amenity of the area and to ensure that the new buildings are in 
keeping with the character of the area to accord with the objectives of Policies 2 and 
3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
8. No development shall take place above damp proof course, until details of the bin 

collection areas for all private drives have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 

 

Page 5



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 
 

Reason: No details of these areas have been submitted and refuse lorries will not be 
able to access private drive areas and therefore bins need to presented at the 
adopted highway. This condition accords with the objectives of Policies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
9. Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, full details of both 

hard and soft landscaping works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The details shall include 

 a)  boundary treatment 
 b)  hard surface materials 

c) minor structures 
d) planting schedules (species, sizes densities etc) 
e) existing trees to be retained/removed 
f) biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures 

 

The approved works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved  
details.   

 
Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of 
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 
   10. All landscape works relating to each completed part of the development  
           shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details within 6  
           months of the completion of that part of the development. Any trees,  
           plants, grassed areas which within a period of 5 years from the date of  
           planting die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased  
           shall be replaced in the first available planting season with others of  
           similar size species or quality. 
 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping 
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved 
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 

   11. Prior to the commencment of any part of the development above slab  
           level, details shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning  
           Authority for the provision of one (1) fire hydrant or other acceptable  
           alternative along with a timetable for its installation relative to the  
           phasing of the development. The fire hydrant (or other acceptable  
           alternative) shall be installed at the relevant point of development 

in accordance with the agreed timetable. 
 
Reason: To enable the protection and maintenance of the development and to 
accord with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 

 12. Prior to the construction of any road or building, details of all roads (including 
footways and junctions) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road (including 
associated footways and junction with the main road) that serves that dwelling shall 
be laid out and constructed in accordance with the agreed details. 

Page 6



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 

 

 
Reason: In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards 
within the public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may 
otherwise remain for an extended period at dissimilar, interim construction levels. 
This condition accords with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036). 

 
 13. Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, a detailed surface 

water drainage scheme shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
agreement in writing.  
 
The scheme shall: 
 
 Be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the 

hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development; 
 Provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during 

storms up to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an 
allowance for climate change, from all hard surfaced areas within the 
development into the existing local drainage infrastructure and watercourse 
system without exceeding the run-off rate for the undeveloped site; 

 Provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to a 
level that shall be submitted to and agreed by the Local lanning Authority 

 Provide details of the timetable for any phasing of implementation for the 
drainage scheme; and 

 Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the 
lifetime of the development, including any arrangments for adoption by any public 
body or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the 
operation of the drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

 
No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has been completed or 
provided on the site in accordance with the approved phasing, and all surface water 
measures relating to that phase and dwelling have been completed. The approved 
scheme shall be retained and maintained in full in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development hereby permitted is adequately drained 
without creating or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or 
downstream of, the development permitted. This condition accords with Policies 2, 3 
and 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
 14. Prior to the commencement of the development above ground level, a Construction 

Management Plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in 
writing. The Construction Management Plan will prescribe how the construction of the 
site will be phased, where site accommodation and welfare facilities will be placed, 
hours of working, where site vehicles and the vehicles of site personnel will be 
parked and where materials will be delivered and stored within the site. Construction 
of the permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved 
Construction Management Plan. 
 

         Reason:  In the interests of the safety and free passage of the public, in the interests 
of residential amenity and to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

Page 7



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 
 

  
 
 

It is recorded that Councillors Alison Austin and Stephen Woodliffe re-joined the 
meeting at this point in the proceedings. 
 
 
58   PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0068 

 
Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 4 dwellings with new access and 
associate site works (revised plans, revised description) 
 
118 Church Road  Boston  PE21 0LG 
 
Mrs B Orrey 
 
The Growth Manager presented the report to the committee confirming that one further 
letter of representation had been received following issue of the agenda, but that no new 
issues had been presented to those within the report. 
 
Committee received a review of the history of the site confirming that application was a 
revised scheme following committee’s deferral of the application at its meeting on the 
20th August 2020:  that application had been tabled to address a previous refusal by 
committee. 
 
Following the deferral various iterations of the application had been considered, the final 
one tabled providing a reduction in dwellings of 2 and changes to the fenestration.  The 
new proposal also included two car parking spaced per dwelling; enlarged front windows 
on the stairwells with the 2nd floor en-suite windows being moved to the roof top. 
 
Additional consultation was undertaken with neighbouring properties following the 
significant material amendments with similar comments to the previous consultation:  no 
further consultation was undertaken with the statutory consultees as all matters covered 
by them remained in the main unchanged. 
 
Representation was received by the applicant Mrs Orrey and the Agent Mr Wicks which 
included the following comments: 
 
All the points raised at the previous meeting had been taken seriously and addressed 
fully.  There had been a reduction in the number of dwellings to address the over 
development concern and issues relating to overlooking had been dealt with by 
relocation of windows.  The current site was an eyesore and whilst it was appreciated 
that the design of the application was subjective and a matter of personal taste, the 
application if granted, would rid the area of the boarded up dwelling on the site and 
present a much need provision of housing in the area.  Members were advised that 
evidence of comparable contemporary designs with similar roof concepts in historic sites 
had been identified in places like Harrogate and Bath where they are different from the 
remainder of the street scene.   Committee were asked to recognise that the applicant 
had taken their concerns on board and addressed all their previous concerns. 
 

Page 8



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 

 

Whilst some concern was raised at the design in keeping with the vernacular of the 
area, the general committee deliberation was one of recognition that whilst design was 
indeed subjective, the reduction to 4 dwellings was an improvement and the application 
had addressed all the issues raised for the initial deferral.   Most members agreed that 
the re submission was a significant improvement and the development would enhance 
the existing street scene, whilst also providing much need housing whilst starting to 
modernise the area. 
   
It was moved by Councillor Yvonne Stevens and second by Councillor Paul Skinner that 
the application be granted contrary to officer recommendation as the application 
notwithstanding the recommendation by Officers, the application be granted planning 
permission for the following reasons:  

 It would result in the re-development of a previously-developed site, within a 
sustainable location, and would provide for the addition of 3 further market units 
which would contribute to the needs and demands for housing within the 
Borough.  

 The units would be of an acceptable overall design, and would make a positive 
contribution to the character and appearance of the area and would demonstrate 
how modern design could be achieved.  

 Weight was also given to the sustainable credentials of the buildings and that 
there would be no adverse impacts arising from the development.  

 As such, it was considered that the proposals, subject to conditions, would be in 
accordance with the policies of the Development Plan when taken as a whole and 
in particular policies 1, 2 and 3.  

and with committee agreement to Delegate Authority to the Growth Manager in respect 
of relevant conditions was also provided. 
 
Vote:   9 in favour.    1 against 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That committee grant the application contrary to officer recommendation for the 
following reasons: 

 It would result in the re-development of a previously-developed site, within a 
sustainable location, and would provide for the addition of 3 further market units 
which would contribute to the needs and demands for housing within the 
Borough.  

 The units would be of an acceptable overall design, and would make a positive 
contribution to the character and appearance of the area and would demonstrate 
how modern design could be achieved.  

 Weight was also given to the sustainable credentials of the buildings and that 
there would be no adverse impacts arising from the development.  

 As such, it was considered that the proposals, subject to conditions, would be in 
accordance with the policies of the Development Plan when taken as a whole and 
in particular policies 1, 2 and 3.  

and that committee agree to delegate authority to the Growth Manager to impose 
conditions as relevant. 
 
 
 

Page 9



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 
 

 
 
Following the committee resolution, the following conditions were imposed: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 

 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
 
P03 Rev A – Location Plan 
P01 Rev K – Plans and Elevations 

 
And read in conjunction with the various recommendations of the supporting 
documents which accompany the application, unless varied by other conditions 
attached to and forming part of this decision. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
approved plans in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) 

 
  3. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) dated May 2018 -
Version 1 - completed by RM Associates and the following mitigation measures 
detailed within the FRA including: 
 
 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 2.80m above Ordnance Datum 

(AOD) 
 Flood resilient construction to be included, with 600mm high flood barriers 

and demountable defences to all ground floor doors 
 

 The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation of each 
unit and subsequently remain in place.   
 

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants and to accord with Polices 2, 3, 4 and 31 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019). 

 

4. The water consumption of each dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed the 
requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional 
requirement in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019). The person carrying out the work must inform the 
Building Control Body that this duty applies. A notice confirming the requirement 
for the water consumption has been met shall be submitted to the Building 
Control Body and Local Planning Authority, no later than five days after the 
completion of each individual dwelling. 
 

Page 10



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 

 

Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the 
district. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-0236). 

 

 5. Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, final details of 
measures that aim to reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon 
energy (including measures such as facilities for EV car charging) and details 
relating to the timing of their implementation, shall be submited to and approved 
in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed 
in accordance with the approved measures. 
 

Reason: To help reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon energy 
in new development schemes and to accord with Policies 2, 3 , 30 and 31 of the 
South east Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and to accord with the intentions 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 
 

6. No development shall take place above damp proof course, until details and 
samples (as may be required) of the materials proposed to be used in the 
construction of the external surfaces have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: No details of materials have been submitted, these details are required 
in the interests of the amenity of the area and to ensure that the new buildings are 
in 
keeping with the character of the area to accord with the objectives of Policies 2 
and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
7. No development shall take place above damp proof course, until details of the bin 

collection areas for all dwellings have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: No details of these areas have been submitted and in the interests of 
design quality, this condition accords with the objectives of Policies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
8. Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, full details of 

both hard and soft landscaping works shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details shall include 

a)  boundary treatments – including both existing (retained) and proposed 
 b)  hard surface materials 

c) minor structures 
d) planting schedules (species, sizes densities etc) 

 
The approved works shall be carried out in accordance with the  
approved details.   

 

Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies 2 and 
3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

Page 11



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 
 

 
   9. All landscape works relating to each completed part of the development  

shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details within 6 months of 
the completion of that part of the development. Any trees, plants, grassed areas 
which within a period of 5 years from the date of planting die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the first available 
planting season with others of similar size species or quality. 

 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping 
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved 
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 

10 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B & C of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification), no window, dormer window, rooflight or other shall be inserted into 
the buildings other than those expressly authorised by this permission without 
Planning Permission first having been granted by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties in 
accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036). 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 

HIGHWAYS 
The permitted development requires the formation of a new vehicular access. 
Applicants should note the provisions of Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980. 
The works should be constructed to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority in 
accordance with the Authority's specification that is current at the time of 
construction. For further information, please telephone 01522 782070. 
 
Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team 
on 01522 782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any 
other works which will be required within the public highway in association with 
the development permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire 
County Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works. 
 
IDB 

            If there is any change to the surface water or treated water disposal  
           arrangements stated in the application, please contact the Board 
 
59   PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0307 

 
Outline application for residential development (1 plot) with all matters (Access, 
Appearance, Landscaping, Layout and Scale) reserved for approval (amended 
application form). 
 
Rear of Gunby House  21 Sibsey Road  Boston  PE21 9QY 
 
Mrs D Moore 

Page 12



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 

 

 
The Growth Manager presented the report to the committee confirming there were no 
updates to the report tabled within the agenda. 
 
Representation was received by the applicant which included: 
 
The site itself had previously been used as a paddock and the whole site was in effect 
split into two sections:  the one for the development would be to the rear of the other, 
which would become the applicant’s garden.  The development at 25a Sibsey Road 
which was also one storey, had been granted so development to the rear of 
neighbouring houses has been established for all the houses who had the same size 
gardens.   There were existing buildings on the site with a stables and a garage having 
been in situ for many years and the new development would be no higher than those 
existing.  The development would not be seen from Sibsey Road and would not impact 
on the street scene, it would have its own garden amenity and its own access from 
Sibsey Road.   The removal of trees was with the consent of the neighbour and 
replacement trees on the site itself would be planted.    
A new development on Sibsey Road with 76 dwellings had been agreed and was 
certainly visual and overlooking from the existing houses on Sibsey Road.  They were 
not in keeping with the existing dwellings and had impacted significantly on the street 
scene:  they had no front or rear gardens; a significant number of trees had been 
removed from the site and the access had been agreed directly opposite the entrance to 
a hospital. 
 
Whilst committee recognised the comments of the applicant in respect the questioning 
of the previous grant for 25a Sibsey Road, in general they agreed that the development 
was ‘back land’.  Additional concerns related to the general character of the area, the 
width of the plot and identified that although 25a had been granted it did not set a 
precedent.  Councillor Austin further identified a further element of refusal related to the 
driveway and the potential impact on the amenities of occupants of 19 and 21A Sibsey 
Road. 
 
 
It was moved by Councillor Brian Rush and seconded by Councillor Alison Austin that 
the application be refused in line with officer recommendation. 
The Growth Manager clarified the recommendation in relation to the potential impact on 
the amenities of occupants of 19 and 21a Sibsey Road and accepted this could be 
included within the reason for refusal if required.  Both Councillors agreed this. 
 
Councillors Yvonne Stevens and Paul Skinner then identified that the 2017 appeal to the 
south was relevant and that the area was now seemingly ‘urban’ and this permission 
could be granted.  
A negation motion was tabled by Councillor Paul Skinner and seconded by Councillor 
Yvonne Stevens.  This vote was taken and was defeated. 
 
The original motion to refuse the application in line with officer recommendation was 
then taken: 
 
Vote for Refusal:      6 in favour.     3 against.   1 abstention. 
 

Page 13



Planning Committee 
10 December 2019 
 

RESOLVED:    That the application be refused in line with officer recommendation 
for the reasons provided therein and including the additional element in relation 
to the impact on the amenities of occupants of 19 and 21A Sibsey Road.  The final 
reason being: 
 
The proposed dwelling, by reason of its position and the characteristics of the site, 
would result in an unacceptable form of backland development. The tandem 
arrangement of dwellings (between the host property and the new dwelling) that would 
result would detract from the established spatial pattern of development. Furthermore, it 
would increase the apparent density of development at the expense of garden space. 
The resultant development would therefore be at odds with established character and 
would further diminish it in an unacceptable way. As such the development would be 
contrary to Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and 
Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework which seeks to secure a high 
standard of design that is sympathetic to the character of an area. 
 
Refused Plans

 Drawing No. 3443-18.02A - Proposed Indicative Site and Location Plans 
 Drawing No. 3443-18.03A - Bungalow & Detached Double Garage 

(In1dicative) 
 Drawing No. 3443-18.04 - Proposed Triple Garage Floor Plan & Elevations 

 

In determining this application the Local Planning Authority has taken account of the 
guidance in Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 in order to 
seek to secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions of the Borough. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 12.00 pm 
 

Page 14



PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0317

Erection of 31 dwellings, new access and
infrastructure following demolition of existing

dwelling.

Land off Station Road  Kirton  Boston  PE20 1LQ

Applicant:
D & R Homes (Kirton) Ltd

Page 15

Agenda Item 1



P
age 16



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

Planning Committee – 14 January 2020 
 

 

Reference No: B/19/0317  
 
Expiry Date:  01-Nov-2019 
 
Extension of Time:   16-January-2020  
 
Application Type: Full Planning Permission 
 
Proposal:  Erection of 31 dwellings, new access and infrastructure following   

demolition of existing dwelling  
 
Site:   Land off Station Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 1LQ 
 
Applicant:  D & R Homes (Kirton) Ltd 
 
Agent:  Mr Lewis Smith, Robert Doughty Consultancy Ltd 
 
Ward:                       Kirton & Frampton Parish: Kirton Parish Council 
 
Case Officer:  John Taylor Third Party Reps: Two received 
 
Link to Application : B/19/0317 

 
Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions and 
reasons.  

Page 17

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


 

 

 
Appendices – Appendix 1 – Inspectors decision relating to B/15/0503 
 
 
1.0 Reason for Report 

 
1.1 The Growth Manager considers that this application should be determined by the 

Planning Committee as the determination is to be made based upon Heads of 
Terms, which are not consistent with adopted policy owing to the schemes viability 
position. The scheme and its viability resulting in no contributions being proposed 
by the applicant. 

 
 
2.0 Application Site and Proposal 
 
2.1 The application site is located within the settlement boundary of Kirton and consists 

of an elongated rectangular shaped parcel of land that occupies approximately 1.2 
hectares. The access for the proposed development would be taken from Station 
Road that is located to the north of the site  

 
2.2 The site is currently has outline planning permission for up to 30 dwellings. 
 
2.3 The northern boundary of the site borders Station road with the southern boundary 

of the plot bordering Wash Road. To the east is Graves Park with its associated 
social club, which is a private area of open space comprising football pitches and a 
cricket pitch. South of Graves Park is an employment site that fronts on to Wash 
Road and on the opposite side of Wash Road (to the south) is the Duckworth Land 
Rover showroom. To the west of the site is a building currently used as a place of 
worship. This building called ‘The Junction’ also has planning permission for it to be 
redeveloped into a community hub providing a place of worship, library service and 
cafeteria. 

 
2.4  A number of trees along the northern and western boundaries are included within 

Tree Preservation Orders (Kirton no.1 and Kirton and Frampton no.1) 
 
2.5 Given the current planning consent for residential development, the site is  

recognised as a housing commitment in the SELLP.  
 
2.6 This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 31 dwellings with 

associated access and infrastructure following the demolition of a single dwelling 
located close to the southern boundary of the plot. 

 
2.7 The development would consist of 31 two-storey market dwellings that include: 
 

 11 x 3-beds 
 20 x 2-beds 

 
2.8 The application is supported by the plans and the following technical documents: 
 

 Design and access statement 
 Drainage strategy and accompanying report 
 Maintenance Strategy Report 
 Written Scheme of Investigation for archaeological evaluation 
 Report on archaeological evaluation 

Page 18



 

 

 
 
 

 Tree constraints and protection report 
 Kirton tree root investigation  
 Flood risk assessment 
 Viability Appraisal 
 Geo Environmental report  

 
3.0 Relevant History 
 
3.1  B/18/0457 - Erection of 31 dwellings including demolition of existing dwelling – 

Withdrawn 29/03/2019 
 
3.2 B/15/0503 - Demolition of existing dwelling fronting Wash Lane and Outline 

Application for up to 30 dwellings with consideration given to access off Station 
Road only (all other matters reserved for later consideration) – Refused on 
03/03/2016 but allowed on appeal on 28/03/2017. A copy of the Inspectors decision 
is attached as Appendix 1 and more details in relation to this decision and the 
implications of this upon the current application are given in the evaluation section 
of this report. 

 
4.0 Relevant Policy 
 

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) 
 
 The following policies are considered to be most relevant to the determination: 

 Policy 1 – Spatial Strategy 
 Policy 2 – Development Management 
 Policy 3 – Design of New Development 
 Policy 4 – Approach to Flood Risk 
 Policy 5 – Meeting Physical Infrastructure and Service Needs 
 Policy 6 – Developer Contributions 
 Policy 10 – Meeting Assessed Housing Needs 
 Policy 11 – Distribution of New Housing 
 Policy 17 – Providing a Mix of Housing 
 Policy 18 – Affordable Housing 
 Policy 28 – The Natural Environment 
 Policy 30 – Pollution 
 Policy 31 – Climate Change and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
 Policy 32 – Community, Health and Well-being 
 Policy 33 – Delivering a more Sustainable Transport System 
 Policy 36 – Vehicle and Cycle Parking 
 Appendix 6 - Parking standards 
 Appendix 8 - Developer contributions for education 
 Appendix 9 - Developer contributions for health care facilities 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
 
 Section 2 - Achieving Sustainable Development 
 Section 4 - Decision Making 
 Section 5 - Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes 
 Section 8 - Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities 

Page 19



 

 

 Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport 
 Section 11 - Making Effective Use of Land 
 Section 12 - Achieving Well-designed Places 
 Section 14 - Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal 

Change 

 
5.0 Representations 
 
5.1 As a result of the publicity two letters of objection/concerns were received from the 

occupiers of the following properties: 
 

 Station Road – no’s 43A and 66 

 
5.2 A summary of their concerns are as follows: 

 Impact on public footpath that leads to light controlled pedestrian crossing 
 Highway safety impact for vehicle users and pedestrians 
 Increase in volume of traffic 
 Loss of amenity from due to the removal of three Lime trees that are covered 

by a tree preservation order 
 Sewerage blockages and effluent problems exist and this housing 

development will exacerbate the issue 
 Access into site should be off Wash Road and not Station Road as proposed 

with this scheme 

 
6.0 Consultations 
 
6.1  Kirton Parish council – Raise concerns over access into the site where the 

carriageway narrows and possible backing up of traffic from the A16. Concerns are 
also raised over the absence of any affordable housing proposed within the scheme. 
The loss of TPO trees to create the access is also not considered acceptable. 
 

6.2  County Highways Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority – No objections subject 
to conditions 

 
6.3 Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust – No response received 
 
6.4  Housing Strategy (Affordable Housing) – Accept the findings of the independent 

report that clarified that no affordable housing provision can be made due to viability 
challenges for the site. 

 
6.5 Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board – No objections but advice given on 

discharging surface water into Board maintained watercourses and that licenses 
are likely to be required for this service. Advice is also given on the 9m Byelaw and 
consent would be required for any encroachment in to this area. 

 
6.6 Environment Agency – No objections subject to conditions. 
 
6.7 NHS England – Do not request a financial contribution for this proposal 
 
6.8  Lincolnshire County Council (Education) - Request a financial contribution of 

£50,974.00 towards a general teaching classroom at Thomas Middlecott Secondary 
School 

 

Page 20



 

 

 
 
 
6.9  Anglian Water Services – Does not formerly object but advice given on consents 

that may be required to connect to Anglian Water owned assets 
 
6.10 Environmental Health – No objections but advise that electric vehicle (EV) re-

charging points should be provided for each property to help reduce air pollution 
 
6.11 National Grid – Advise applicants that there are low to medium gas pipes within 

the vicinity. Advice provided for the applicant. 
 
6.12  Heritage Lincolnshire – Acknowledge that trial trenching has been carried out and 

that the assessment has demonstrated that the presence of archaeological remains 
at the northern end of the site. However, a condition is still required for further 
excavation in accordance with a written scheme of investigation.  

 
7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 

 
7.1 The key planning issues in the determination of this application are: 

 
 Planning History & the ‘fallback’ position 
 Principle of development  
 The proposal’s impact on the character and appearance of the area 
 Impact on protected trees 
 Highway safety and car parking 
 Flood risk and drainage 
 Impact on neighbour’s amenity 
 Developer contributions 
 Contamination 
 Other matters 
 Planning Conditions 

 
 Planning History & the ‘fallback’ position 
7.2 As stated earlier in this report, there is an established planning history for this site, 

which is relevant in the consideration of this current proposal. The Inspectors 
decision (see appendix 1) provides for an existing planning permission, which could 
still be lawfully implemented. This therefore provides for what is known as a 
‘fallback’ position, and is therefore a significant material planning consideration. 

 
7.3 In particular, Officers draw attention to the following matters, which were 

considered within the Appeal and found acceptable by the Inspector: 
 

 Highway safety –  
 Planning obligations –  
 Impact on Trees including those covered by TPO –  

 
7.4  In conclusion, and as an outcome from the Appeal, the development was allowed, 

and thus the principle of development for 30 residential units on the site was 
accepted.  

 
 
 

Page 21



 

 

 
 
7.5  Whilst the policy position for the development has moved on (with the adoption of 

the SELLP) and this new proposal must be considered afresh, on its own merits, 
against the current policies of the SELLP, Officers advise that significant material 
weight must continue to be attributed to the earlier Appeal decision given that the 
approved scheme could still be implemented (subject to agreement of details). This 
is particularly relevant for the technical matters relating to highway safety and impact 
on trees, which have been raised by various parties in relation to the current 
proposal, with those matters having previously been found to be acceptable.  

 
Principle of development 
 

7.6 Policy 1 of the SELLP, which identifies Kirton as a main service centre, would 
generally support the redevelopment of the site for housing as it is located within 
the settlement boundary of Kirton and will help support Kirton’s role as a main 
service centre. The site also has the benefit of extant outline planning consent for 
up to 30 dwellings, and is identified as a housing commitment within the SELLP. 
The scheme would have the potential to provide a significant level of housing within 
a sustainable location. This would contribute positively to housing delivery within 
the Borough, and thus would meet the aims of policies 10, 11, 17 & 18 of the SELLP 
and the aims of encouraging housing growth within the NPPF. 
 

7.7 It is therefore considered that, subject to all other matters being acceptable, the 
principle of residential development on this site would be supported. 

 
The proposal’s impact on the character and appearance of the area 

 
7.8 This proposal will see the erection of 31 dwellings in the form of terraces of three 

and four dwellings. All dwellings will be accessed via a new adoptable estate road 
taken from Station Road with each dwelling having a suitable sized private garden 
area. Parking areas are predominantly positioned along the new access road with 
a few of the plots having a parking courtyard.  

 
7.9 The density for the proposed development based on 31 dwellings equates to 

approximately 26 dwellings per hectare, which in general density terms is 
acceptable for this area and is considered appropriate.  

 
7.10 The layout of the proposal is influenced significantly by the characteristics and 

constraints of the site. The elongated shaped plot would see the dwellings evenly 
dispersed with an area for SUDs/amenity space running along almost the full length 
of the eastern boundary, beyond which a number of mature trees exist along the 
border with Graves Park that are covered by a Tree Preservation Order (Kirton and 
Frampton no.1). A single Ash tree also exists close to the western boundary that 
would remain as part of this proposal.  Further trees covered by a Tree Preservation 
Order are positioned along the northern boundary of the site with two of these trees 
having to be removed to form the vehicular access into the site. All of the dwellings 
are of traditional form, and would be constructed of brick under tiled roof with 
pronounced fenestration detailing that would be high and narrow and which attempt 
to give the development a modern/current feel. Each of the units would be provided 
with sufficient amenity space, and appropriate levels of parking.  

 
 

Page 22



 

 

 
 
 
 
 It is acknowledged that the parking would dominate the frontage of some of the 

units, however, the development would still provide for relatively attractive street 
scenes when viewed from within the development, and in any event, this 
development would be read as a single new development (as opposed to having to 
try and blend with existing forms). This approach is therefore considered 
acceptable in this instance. 

 
7.11 The site would alter the appearance of the area by introducing development on 

previously undeveloped land, which would then see visual changes when viewed 
from the north, east and west. In addition, the general arrangement of dwellings is 
considered somewhat uncharacteristic in spatial terms.  However, it is considered 
that in view of the extant planning consent (B/15/0503 – an application for housing 
that was allowed on appeal) there is a general acceptance that the site is suitable 
for development and that development on this site would be acceptable in spatial 
and visual terms. Any change to the area is unlikely to cause significant harm in 
terms of the impact on the character and appearance of the area, and any harm 
that would result must be weighed in the planning balance against other positive 
aspects of the scheme.  

 
7.12 Based on the above assessment it is considered that the number of dwellings 

proposed (31 units) appears acceptable for this site that has extant planning 
permission, and it is considered that the proposal is unlikely to adversely impact 
the general character and appearance of the area. For these reasons, the proposal 
appears to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP and the intentions of Section 
12 ‘Achieving Well-designed Places’ of the NPPF. 

 
 Impact on protected trees 
 
7.13 According to the submitted arboricultural report the access will require the removal 

of two mature trees (ref: T1 and T2 of submitted report) and occasional small to 
medium sized trees, but this is proposed to be mitigated by the planting of a number 
of new trees. A number of measures are also proposed to protect retained trees 
within the site and those outside of ownership of the site where construction may 
impact on the roots of these trees. 

 
7.14 The previous application allowed by the Inspector (B/15/0503) considered the 

removal of the same two trees proposed within this application. The Inspector 
concluded that the loss of the two trees specified would not have a significant 
impact on the overall amenity value provided by the group of trees. It is considered 
that the two trees proposed to be removed are justified by the planning merits of 
this proposal and it is considered that, subject to conditions relating to replanting of 
further trees within the site and appropriate use of root protection measures during 
construction, the proposal is, on balance, acceptable. The proposal would accord 
with policies 2, 3 and 28 of the SELLP. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

 

 
 

Highway safety and car parking 
 

7.15 The main vehicular access into the site would be built to adoptable standards and, 
once completed, the road network will be adopted by the Local Highways Authority. 
A new 2 metre wide footway on the western side of the road would run the full length 
of the access in to the site and this new footway would connect to the existing 
footway on Station road. No objections have been raised by the Local Highway 
Authority subject to a number of conditions. It is therefore concluded that this 
arrangement would be acceptable in relation to matters such as visibility and 
general highway safety. Whilst concerns have been raised by various parties in 
relation to highway safety, Officers consider that a refusal on these grounds would 
not be sustainable given the comments of the Highway Authority and the previous 
findings within the Appeal decision. 
 

7.16 Policy 36 ‘Vehicle and Cycle Parking’ provides minimum parking standards for 
various types of development. Annex 6 of the SELLP provides details on the level 
of car parking and cycle parking expected within new residential developments. It 
indicates that two parking spaces should be provided to serve properties of up to 
three bedrooms and that a garage can count as one space if it has an internal 
dimensions of 2.6m by 5.6m with an additional 1m at its end to park cycles.  

 
7.17  All dwellings appear to have adhered to the minimum parking levels set out in Annex 

6 and the overall level of parking offered throughout the scheme and its layout is 
considered, on balance, acceptable and appears to be in accordance with Policy 36 
of the SELLP and associated Annex 6. 

 
Flood Risk and drainage 
 

7.18 The application site is located within flood zone 3 of the Environment Agency’s flood 
zone maps and according the EA flood hazard maps (1 in 200 year) the eastern 
part of the site is in a ‘danger for most’ area where there is potential for flood level 
depths to exceed 1.0 metres. The western half of the application site either falls 
within a ‘danger for some’ category or is low risk. 

 
7.19 The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) that has been 

assessed by the EA and they do not raise objection to the scheme subject to a 
compliance condition. This has been included as condition 3 within the schedule of 
conditions set out at the end of this report. The FRA also includes a Sequential and 
Exceptions Test, which is considered appropriate and in view of the extant planning 
permission that exists for this site, it is considered that there is no general objection 
to the development of the site for housing from a flood risk perspective.  

 
7.20 Based on the above assessment it is considered that, subject to conditions, the 

proposal would accord with Policy 4 of the SELLP and the intentions of Section 14 
‘Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change’ of the NPPF. 
 
Impact on neighbour’s amenity 
 

7.21  The nearest dwellings that may be impacted by the development are the two 
properties that are located either side of the proposed new access into the site off 
Station road. However, plots 1-3 are to be set on a similar building line to 41A 
Station Road and are proposed to have a similar orientation.  

Page 24



 

 

 
 
 The gable end of plot 3 would be approximately 5 metres away from the gable end 

of the existing neighbouring property but as the relationship between the new 
building and the existing built form would be ‘gable end to gable end’  this 
relationship is considered acceptable. 

 
7.22 The other residential property that lies adjacent to the eastern boundary (at the 

northern end) would be over 55 metres away from the nearest new dwelling. It is 
considered that this separation distance is more than adequate. It is therefore 
unlikely that any harmful dominance, visual intrusion, loss of light or loss of privacy 
through overlooking would occur as a result of the new development. To conclude, 
it is considered that the relationship between the existing dwellings along Station 
Road and the proposed dwellings to the north of the site is acceptable.  

 
7.23 Plots 24-31, which are to be located to the south of the plot and fronting on to Wash 

Road, would have views of the Duckworth Landrover site on the opposite side of 
Wash Road to the south. Again, the separation distance to this employment site is 
considered appropriate and in terms of the amenity of future occupants of the 
proposed dwellings, this relationship is considered acceptable.   

 
7.24  To conclude, it is considered that the development would be acceptable in relation 

to the impact on neighbouring amenity, the proposal would therefore accord with 
Policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP. 

 
 Developer contributions  

 
7.25  By way of background, the previous appeal decision (B/15/0503) included a signed 

legal agreement that included a 30% contribution of the 30 dwellings (9 units) to be 
made available as affordable units. This planning obligation was based upon the  
requirement within the former interim policy on affordable housing that dated back 
to 2006. This document, along with the former Boston Borough Local Plan (1999), 
does not now hold any weight when determining applications as they have been 
replaced by the SELLP. As this is a new submission, it must be considered against 
the current development plan – the SELLP. 

 
7.26 Policy 6 ‘Developer Contributions’ of the SELLP sets out the obligations for major 

developments that may be required to mitigate impacts of new development on local 
services and infrastructure, and Policy 18 ‘Affordable Housing’ sets out the trigger 
points and levels of affordable housing that would normally be expected for such 
developments. Appendix 8 ‘Developer Contributions for Education Facilities’ and 
appendix 9 ‘Developer Contributions for Health Care Facilities’ also have to be 
considered. 

 
7.27 This scheme would normally attract 20% of the units to be affordable homes (6 

units) and a financial request has also been made in respect of Education: 
 

   A request has been made by Lincolnshire Education Services for a financial 
contribution of £50,974 towards a general teaching classroom at Thomas 
Middlecott Secondary School 

 
7.28 Having considered the above, the applicants have submitted a viability statement 

that attempts to demonstrate that the proposed scheme would not be viable with 
the planning obligations identified above.  

Page 25



 

 

 
 
7.29 Government guidance (NPPG) provides comments on Viability issues, which 

highlights: 

  
 It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify 

the need for a viability assessment at the application stage. 
 The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision 

maker, having regard to all the circumstances in the case, including whether the 
plan and viability evidence underpinning the plan is up to date, and site 
circumstances including any changes since the plan was brought into force, and 
the transparency of assumptions behind evidence submitted as part of the 
viability assessment. 

 
7.30 The applicant’s viability study includes a variety of inputs including the gross 

development value (revenue), build costs, professional fees, marketing/legal costs, 
finance, developer’s profit and site value, most of which appear to be generally 
reasonable in the context of the scheme.  

 
7.31 The submitted viability assessment has been independently assessed and it was 

concluded that the scheme would be unviable if the requested level of 20% 
affordable housing contribution was met along with the provision of the financial 
contributions suggested. Other scenarios of reducing the level of affordable housing 
and/or providing nil contributions towards education also resulted in the scheme 
being unviable. Clearly therefore, there are significant viability challenges relating 
to the development of this site generally, and there is some doubt as to the 
deliverability of the proposed scheme. It is also noted that both the Councils 
assessment and that on behalf of the applicant indicate that the Appeal scheme 
would also be undeliverable in viability terms. 

 
7.32  Given the findings of the Councils independent assessment of the applicant’s 

viability assessment, the viability challenges to development on this site - which 
primarily relates to flood risk, piled foundations and the relocation of the overhead 
line - are acknowledged and understood. The conclusion of the appraisal is that the 
assumptions made within the applicant’s viability assessment are generally 
reasonable and that the scheme would be unviable if any provision of affordable 
housing was provided, or any contribution towards education was made. It is 
therefore accepted that the scheme cannot meet the requirements as identified 
earlier in this section without rendering the development unviable. A balanced 
judgement therefore has to be made that would not prejudice the site coming 
forward to deliver additional market housing, on a site which benefits from an 
existing permission, and which would contribute positively towards the overall 
supply of housing within the Borough.  

 
7.33 Whilst the scheme would fail to make a contribution in respect of affordable housing 

provision and any financial contribution towards education, and would therefore not 
be compliant with policy 6 (and appendices 8 and 9), the viability of the site has 
been fully considered (independently). Given the conclusions of the independent 
assessment, it is important to ensure that delivery of this site, and much needed 
housing on this consented site, is not prejudiced by the viability issues. This is in 
line with the national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).  

 
 
 

Page 26



 

 

 
 
7.34 The weight to be attributed to the viability position is a matter for the decision-taker. 

Officers consider that a balanced judgement has to be made on the delivery of 
housing for this site, against the potential of the site being unviable for residential 
development. It is Officer’s opinion that the proposal cannot offer any contributions 
towards affordable housing or education. Given the viability challenge for this site it 
is considered that the proposed 31 market houses should be taken as a positive 
benefit of the scheme as it would contribute to housing delivery rates within the 
Borough.  

 
 Contamination 
 
7.35 A Geo Environmental Report has been submitted as part of this application and no 

objections are raised by Environmental Health subject to a condition being imposed 
that deals with any previously unidentified contamination on the site. It is therefore 
considered that the proposal is in accordance with policy 30 of the SELLP. 

 
Other matters 
 

7.36 Policy 30 ‘Pollution’ and 31 ‘Climate change and renewable and low carbon energy’ 
of the SELLP set out a range of measures that developers would normally be 
expected to comply with such as electric charging points, energy efficient boilers 
and the need to comply with water efficiency standards. These measures aim to 
help reduce the carbon footprint of developments making them more sustainable in 
line with the guidance contained in the NPPF. This development would be a modern 
development, designed to provide a high quality scheme meeting the expectations 
of future residents and building regulations. With regard to the imposition of further 
measures, it is considered that this can be sufficiently dealt with by the way of 
planning conditions requiring the submission of further details. 
 
Planning Conditions 
 

7.37 In addition to the standard conditions which limits the life span of the planning 
permission and the approved plans, conditions are recommended which relate to 
drainage and flood risk, highway works, tree protection, landscaping and 
biodiversity enhancements.   

 
7.38   A further condition requiring a construction management plan should be imposed. 

This would require the submission of details of where construction materials will be 
stored, the siting of welfare facilities, working hours etc. in order to protect the 
amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings during the construction of the 
development. 
 

8.0 Planning Balance 
 
8.1  Section 38(6) of the Act requires that proposals are determined in accordance with 

the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. It is well-
defined in case law that the development plan (in this case the SELLP) should be 
taken as a whole and it is for the decision-maker to weigh up the extent to which 
proposals are in accordance with/conflict with policies of the development plan and 
their objectives, along with all relevant material considerations. The weight 
attributed to each of these factors within this exercise is known as the ‘planning 
balance’.  

Page 27



 

 

 
8.2 This site has the benefit of extant planning permission (ref: B/15/0503) and is a 

housing commitment within the settlement boundary of Kirton. Therefore, the 
principle of residential development on this site is not disputed. It therefore accords 
with Policy 1. The scheme would also make a significant contribution to boosting 
the supply of housing within the Borough. 

 
8.3  The layout of the development appears well thought out with the overall scheme 

being unlikely to cause undue harm to the general character and appearance of the 
area. The proposed dwellings appear to have suitably sized gardens and good 
levels of parking and the scheme would provide a quality living environment for 
future occupiers of the dwellings. The scheme would result in visual and spatial 
change to the area, however these effects are considered minor in nature given 
that the land has been previously found as being acceptable for development by 
virtue of its previous consent, and that the scheme would appropriately assimilate 
into the existing spatial character of the area. As such, the proposals therefore 
comply with policies 2, and 3 of the SELLP. 

 
8.4 The environmental impacts of this development in relation to highway impact, flood 

risk and general sustainability are considered acceptable and can be appropriately 
mitigated through the imposition of recommended conditions. Therefore, the 
scheme would comply with policies 2, 3, 4, 30 and 31 of the SELLP. 

 
8.5  The viability of the proposal against the requirements of policies 6 and 18, have 

been challenged and independently assessed. The outcome being that the scheme 
would be unviable if these policy requirements were met. In this instance, a 
balanced decision in reference to the obligations required to mitigate the impact of 
the development is considered appropriate given the viability challenges. 
Notwithstanding the conflict of this proposal with policies 6 and 18, it is considered 
that the benefits of this scheme in terms of provision of housing supply outweigh 
the lack of contributions offered. When taken as a whole, it is considered that the 
proposals would be generally in accordance with the aims of the development plan, 
in particular those policies identified within this report.  

 
8.6  The Appeal decision for this site is a significant material planning consideration in 

the decision. Furthermore, whilst there are material considerations within this report 
which both weigh in favour of and against the scheme, overall, none of these are 
considered sufficient to outweigh the policy position established by the 
development plan as a whole and in general terms, it is considered that the benefits 
of the scheme would outweigh the negatives identified. 

 
8.7 To conclude, when taken as a whole, it is Officers opinion that the scheme would 

be acceptable in the planning balance subject to the imposing of conditions as 
recommended. 

 
9.0 Summary and Conclusion 
 
9.1 The proposal would result in the residential development of this site for 31 dwellings, 

which would provide a significant contribution to the housing supply within the 
Borough. The site is suitable for residential development and the primary issues in 
the determination of the application have been fully assessed as identified above 
and found to be acceptable or would be acceptable subject to the imposition of the 
conditions recommended below. It is therefore recommended that the application 
be approved. 

Page 28



 

 

 
 

10.0 Recommendation 
 

10.1 It is recommended that Committee GRANT planning permission subject to the 
following conditions and reasons. 

 
 CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 

 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2.  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
 

 Ref: 1308-4_PL_LP01 Rev A – ‘Location Plan’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_SP02 Rev B – ‘Proposed Site Plan’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_SP03 Rev B – ‘Proposed Site Plan in context’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_SP04 – ‘Access Detail Plan’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_GA01 – ‘Proposed Plans and Elevations (house type 1)’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_GA02 – ‘Proposed Plans and Elevations (house type 3)’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_GA03 – ‘Proposed Plans and Elevations (house type 4)’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_GA04 – ‘Proposed Plans and Elevations (house type 5)’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_GA05 – ‘Proposed Plans and Elevations (house type 6)’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_GA06 – ‘Proposed Plans and Elevations (house type 7)’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_EL01 – ‘Proposed Elevations (house type 2)’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_PL01 – ‘Proposed Plans (house type 2)’ 
 Ref: 1308-4_PL_PL02 – ‘Proposed Roof Plans’ 

 

And read in conjunction with the various recommendations of the supporting 
documents which accompany the application unless varied by other conditions 
attached to and forming part of this decision. 
 

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
approved plans in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036) 

 
  3. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) dated July 2019 
completed by RM Associates and the following mitigation measures detailed 
within the FRA including: 
 

 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 3.9m above Ordnance Datum 
    (AOD) 
 All dwellings to be at least two storey 
 

 The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation of each 
unit and subsequently remain in place.   
 

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants and to accord with Polices 2, 3, 4 and 31 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019). 

Page 29



 

 

 
 

4. Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, a detailed 
scheme for drainage and water infrastructure shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include: 

 

 A scheme for the provision of mains foul sewerage infrastructure on and off the 
site 

 Details of connection point(s) and discharge rate(s)  
 

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling within any phase of the development, the 
drainage and water infrastructure measures relating to that phase and dwelling 
must have been carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme. 
 

Reason: To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding and 
to accord with Polices 2, 3, 4 and 31 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
(2011-2036) and the intentions of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 

 
5. The water consumption of each dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed the 

requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional requirement 
in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan, 2019). The person carrying out the work must inform the Building Control 
Body that this duty applies. A notice confirming the requirement for the water 
consumption has been met shall be submitted to the Building Control Body and 
Local Planning Authority, no later than five days after the completion of each 
individual dwelling. 
 

Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the 
district. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-0236). 

 
 6. Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, final details of 

measures that aim to reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon 
energy (including measures such as facilities for EV car charging) and details 
relating to the timing of their implementation, shall be submited to and approved in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved measures. 
 

Reason: To help reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon energy 
in new development schemes and to accord with Policies 2, 3 , 30 and 31 of the 
South east Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and to accord with the intentions 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
7. No development shall take place above damp proof course, until details of the 

materials proposed to be used in the construction of the external surfaces have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: No details of materials have been submitted, these details are required in 
the interests of the amenity of the area and to ensure that the new buildings are in 
keeping with the character of the area to accord with the objectives of Policies 2 
and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
 

Page 30



 

 

 
 
 
   8. Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, full details of 

both hard and soft landscaping works shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The details shall include: 

 

 a)   boundary treatment 
 b)   hard surface materials 
c)   minor structures 
d) soft landscaping details for proposed trees and hedgerows including planting      

schedules (species, sizes densities etc) 
e)   existing trees to be retained/removed and details of replacements 
f) biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures 

 
The approved works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.   

 

Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies 2 and 
3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
    9. All landscape works relating to each completed part of the development shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details within 6 months of the 
completion of that part of the development. Any trees, plants, grassed areas which 
within a period of 5 years from the date of planting die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the first available planting 
season with others of similar size species or quality. 

 

Reason:    In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping 
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved 
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
 10.  Prior to the occupation of any dwelling a landscape management plan including 

managment responsibilities for any areas of open space, private drives and shared 
surface parking areas shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planing Authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance of the these areas and to accord 
with polcies 2 and 3 of the South east Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
 11. The development hereby approved shall be carried out fully in accordance with the 

Tree constraints and Protection Report (ref:722/18d v2), and in particular Section 
3 (Tree Protection Detail) containing the schedule of works for affected trees 
including their root protection areas. 

 

Reason: To ensure that protected trees and their root systems are not unduly 
harmed during construction of the development and to accord with policies 2, 3 and 
28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 

 

 12. Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, a detailed 
surface water drainage scheme shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for agreement in writing.  
 

The scheme shall: 
 

 Be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the 
hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development; 

 Provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during 
storms up to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an 
allowance for climate change, from all hard surfaced areas within the 
development into the existing local drainage infrastructure and watercourse 
system without exceeding the run-off rate for the undeveloped site; 

 Provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to a 
level that shall be submitted to and agreed by the Local lanning Authority 

 Provide details of the timetable for any phasing of implementation for the 
drainage scheme; and 

 Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the 
lifetime of the development, including any arrangments for adoption by any 
public body or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements required to 
secure the operation of the drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

 

    No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has been completed or 
provided on the site in accordance with the approved phasing, and all surface water 
measures relating to that phase and dwelling have been completed. The approved 
scheme shall be retained and maintained in full in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 

Reason: To ensure that the development hereby permitted is adequately drained 
without creating or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or 
downstream of, the development permitted. This condition accords with Policies 2, 
3 and 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
 13. Before each dwelling is occupied, the roads and footways providing access to that 

dwelling, for the whole of its frontage from an existing public highway, shall be 
constructed to a specification to enable them to be adopted as Public Highway, less 
the carriageway and footway surface courses. The carriageway and footway 
surface courses shall be completed within three months from the date upon which 
the erection is commenced of the penultimate dwelling. 

 

Reason: To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and pedestrian 
access is provided for residents throughout the construction period of the 
development and that the roads and footways are completed within a reasonable 
period following completion of the dwellings. This condition accords with Polices 2 
and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
14. No dwellings shall be commenced before the first 50 metres of the estate road from 

its junction with the public highway, including visibility splays, has been completed 
to binder course level. 

 

Reason: To ensure construction and delivery vehicles, and the vehicles of site 
personnel, may be parked and/or unloaded off the existing highway, in the interests 
of highway safety and the amenity of neighbouring residents. This condition 
accords with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036). 

Page 32



 

 

 
 
 

 
15. Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and associated 

footways that forms the junction with the main road and which will be constructed 
within the limits of the existing highway, shall be laid out and constructed to finished 
surface levels in accordance with details to be submitted to, and approved by, the 
Local Planning Authority 

 
Reason: In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards 
within the public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may 
otherwise remain for an extended period at dissimilar, interim construction levels. 
This condition accords with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan (2011-2036). 

 
16.  No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan and 

Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, which shall include; 

 

 Phasing of the development to include access construction 

 The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 

 Loading and unloading of plant and materials 

 Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 

 Wheel washing facilities 

 The routes of construction traffic to and from the site 

 Strategy stating how surface water run off on and from the development will be 
managed during construction and protection measures for any sustainable 
drainage features. This should include drawings showing the drainage systems 
connect to an outfall during construction. 

 
The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall be strictly 
adhered to throughout the construction period. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without 
creating or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to or downstream of 
the development during construction and to ensure that traffic routes are agreed, 
and in the interests of protecting neighbour’s amenity. This condition accords with 
Policies 2, 3 and 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
17.  If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then 

the Local Planning Authority shall be notified immediately and no further work shall 
be carried out until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the 
suspect contamination has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with in accordance with 
Policy 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



 

 

 
 
Informatives 
 
1. All roads within the development hereby permitted must be constructed to an 

engineering standard equivalent to that of adoptable highways. Those roads that 
are to be put forward for adoption as public highways must be constructed in 
accordance with the Lincolnshire County Council Development Road Specification 
that is current at the time of construction and the developer will be required to enter 
into a legal agreement with the Highway Authority under Section 38 of the 
Highways Act 1980. Those roads that are not to be voluntarily put forward for 
adoption as public highways may be subject to action by the Highway Authority 
under Section 219 (the Advance Payments code) of the Highways Act 1980. 

 
2. Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team 

on 01522 782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any 
other works which will be required within the public highway in association with the 
development permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County 
Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works. 

 
3. Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water 

Industry Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, under the 
Water Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team 0345 606 6087. 

 
4.  Protection of existing assets - A public sewer is shown on record plans within the 

land identified for the proposed development. It appears that development 
proposals will affect existing public sewers. It is recommended that the applicant 
contact Anglian Water Development Services Team for further advice on this 
matter. Building over existing public sewers will not be permitted (without 
agreement) from Anglian Water.  

 
5. Building near to a public sewer – No building will be permitted within the statutory 

easement width of 3 metres from the pipeline without agreement from Anglian 
Water. Please contact Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087. 

 
6.  The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been 

approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have the sewers 
included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water (under Sections 104 
of the Water Industry Act 1991), they should contact our Development Services 
Team on 0345 606 6087 at the earliest opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption 
should be designed and constructed in accordance with Sewers for Adoption guide 
for developers, as supplemented by Anglian Water’s requirements. 

 
 
 
 
 
Mike Gildersleeves 
Growth Manager 
 
 

Page 34



  

 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Hearing held on 18 January 2017 

Site visit made on 18 January 2017 

by Claire Searson  MSc PGDip BSc (Hons) MRTPI IHBC 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 28th March 2017 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/16/3156914 
Land to the South of Station Road and North of Wash Road, Kirton, Boston, 
Lincolnshire.  

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mr Andrew Hall against the decision of Boston Borough Council.  

 The application Ref B/15/0503, dated 20 November 2015, was refused by notice dated 

3 May 2016. 

 The development proposed is residential development comprising of up to 30 dwellings 

and the proposed means of vehicular access at land to the south of Station Road, 

Kirton. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for residential 
development comprising up to 30 dwellings and the proposed means of 
vehicular access at Land to the South of Station Road, Kirton in accordance 
with the terms of the application, Ref B/15/0503, dated 20 November 2015, 
subject to the attached schedule of conditions. 

Application for costs 

2. At the Hearing an application for costs was made by Mr Andrew Hall against 
Boston Borough Council.  This application is the subject of a separate Decision. 

Procedural Matters 

3. The proposal seeks outline planning permission, with all matters of detail other 
than access reserved for future consideration.  During the course of the original 
application an indicative amended layout plan was submitted (201414-02 Rev 
C), and I have had regard to this in my determination of the appeal.  

4. I have taken the site address from the appeal form as this was more precise 
than the address given in the application form.  

5. The Council confirmed in an email dated 8th December 2016 that they have 
conceded on their second reason for refusal relating to the character of the 
area and potential conflict of use between the appeal site and an adjacent 
industrial area.   

6. The parties submitted an agreed Statement of Common Ground (SOCG) the 
day before the Hearing, with a paper copy supplied on the day.  This sets out a 

Page 35



Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/16/3156914 
 

 

2 

site description, planning history, and an agreed policy context and issues in 
dispute.    

7. While the Council’s remaining reason for refusal referred to the loss of 
protected trees, it was established at the Hearing that the Council has no 
objection on character and appearance grounds to the removal of 2 protected 
trees. This position was also reflected within the SOCG.  

8. A completed legal agreement under s106 of the Planning Act (s106), dated 12 
February 2017, was submitted following the hearing.  The provision of 
affordable housing and its compliance with the relevant Regulations, the 
National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) as well as Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) is considered below.  

Main Issues 

9. In light of the above, the main issues are (a) the effect of the proposed 
development upon highway safety and (b) whether or not a planning obligation 
is required to make the proposal acceptable with particular regard to affordable 
housing.  

Reasons 

Highway Safety 

10. The appeal site is a large area of open land located between Station Road and 
Wash Road.  A number of protected trees are located along the boundary with 
Station Road, as well as along the eastern side boundary.  

11. The proposed development would be accessed via Station Road, a suburban 
road which serves a number of private dwellings along its length.  A number of 
other developments, including housing along Pells Drive are also accessed via 
this road.  To the east is a large roundabout which carries traffic from the A16, 
a busy road which links between Boston and Spalding and beyond to other 
major settlements such as Grimsby and Peterborough.   

12. Two trees would be felled to create the site access.  A section of footpath 
adjacent to the site leading toward the A16 would also be widened.  This would 
reduce the width of the carriageway to allow for greater visibility for vehicles 
exiting the proposed development.   

13. At the Hearing, the Council conceded that the visibility splays from the 
proposed access were adequate and in accordance with the visibility criteria set 
out in Manual for Streets.  Parties also agreed on the figures within the 
Councils appeal statement in respect of traffic generation from the proposed 
development.  However, and in spite of a lack of objection from Lincolnshire 
County Council Highways, the Council considers that the proximity of the 
roundabout and the A16 as a major road gives rise to a significant risk to 
safety of all users in respect of stopping sight distances.   

14. The distance between the proposed access and the A16 would be less than the 
stopping sight distance recommended by Manual for Streets and the Council 
also consider that an even greater distance should be achieved due to the 
proximity of the A16, which is operated at the national speed limit.  However, 
on entry to Station Road the speed limit changes to 30mph and while the 
distance between the proposed site access and the roundabout is relatively 

Page 36



Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/16/3156914 
 

 

3 

short, the kerb radius from the northern arm of the A16 is as such that I do not 
consider that vehicles would exit the A16 from the north at any great speed.  
Given the volume of traffic along the A16, I also do not consider that high 
speeds would be possible when crossing the roundabout from Kirton.   

15. There is a wide grass verge between the northern arm of the A16 carriageway 
and Station Road.  At my site visit I saw that there are a number of structures 
within this verge, including signage and a green cabinet which would limit 
visibility of any queuing traffic along Station Road.  Nonetheless, these 
structures are low level and I do not consider that they obstruct the sightlines 
to any great extent.   

16. Due to the width of Station Road itself, which would be reduced by the 
proposed access, larger vehicles accessing and exiting the development would 
need to use both sides of the carriageway in order to turn.   I accept that the 
length of such vehicles would reduce the available road space, however I do 
not consider that the flow of traffic would be exacerbated to any significant 
degree  as the regularity of any such vehicles, including large refuse vehicles 
which are 9m in length, would not be frequent.   

17. Moreover, the additional levels of traffic generated by the development of 5% 
overall, with an average of 15 journeys or up to 22 journeys at the 85th 
percentile during peak periods along Station Road, is not considered to be 
excessive.  Based on these figures, it follows that it would not be often that 
vehicles would need to queue to turn right into the appeal site and I do not 
consider that any queues generated from the development in combination with 
existing users of Station Road would be likely to extend out so as to impede 
the safe flow of traffic on the A16 at the roundabout.   

18. On the basis of all of the above, I therefore consider that stopping sight 
distances would be acceptable in spite of them being slightly below the 
recommended distance given in Manual for Streets.  Risks to waiting traffic 
along Station Road would also be minimal.   

19. I also have no evidence before me that the short distance between the 
proposed access and Pells Drive as a staggered junction distance would give 
rise to any safety implications.  Pells Drive is a small cul-de-sac and I note that 
staggered junction geometry is recognised in the Manual for Streets.   

20. Concern was raised in respect of the future capacity of the A16 in light of other 
development proposals, including major development to the south of Boston 
which has necessitated the creation of a new junction.  However, as set out in 
the Council’s statement, the A16/Station Road roundabout has sufficient 
capacity and recent traffic growth including the current proposals would not be 
expected to create capacity problems for the A16.  

21. The Council also contend that a 14% increase in traffic along Station Road is an 
amenity issue in respect of severance and risk of injury.  It is anticipated that 
the development would give rise to an additional 44 pedestrian movements and 
7 cycle trips per day.   

22. In respect of accessibility, the A16 does create a divide between the proposed 
site and the centre of Kirton with its local services and facilities.  The walking 
distances are also at the upper limit of what is deemed to be acceptable.  
However, pedestrian links are well established and I note the presence of a 

Page 37



Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/16/3156914 
 

 

4 

dedicated cycle path and pedestrian footpath alongside the A16 leading into the 
village centre.  There is also a signalled pedestrian and cycle crossing on the 
A16 to the southern side of the roundabout which provide access into Kirton. 
The widening of the pavement along part of Station Road would also improve 
pedestrian access and safety, particularly for vulnerable users including 
children and the elderly.   

23. Accident statistics have been provided but much of the data relates to incidents 
within the centre of Kirton.  No accidents have been recorded at the pedestrian 
crossing and the 3 recorded accidents in the vicinity of the appeal site relate to 
the northern arm of the A16 only, during the late evening period and involved 
a single car.  Therefore there is no evidence to suggest that pedestrians and 
cyclists from the proposed development would be at risk.    

24. As an alternative, access from the appeal site could be gained via Wash Road.  
However, given the commercial premises along this highway there would be 
likely to be conflict with residential and business traffic, including HGV’s.  
Furthermore, I consider that turning right onto the A16 would be more difficult, 
as there was no roundabout or other formal traffic control.  While I do not 
consider these issues to be significant, in light of a lack of harm in respect of 
access from Station Road, I find that such an alternative access would not offer 
any particular benefits in respect of highway safety.  

25. I therefore conclude that there would be no adverse impact in respect of 
highway safety from the proposed development.  The development would 
therefore accord with saved Policies G1 and G6 of the Boston Borough Local 
Plan 1999 (LP) which requires that development has a satisfactory means of 
pedestrian and vehicular access as well as seeking to preserve neighbour 
amenity in respect of traffic generation.  The development is also in accordance 
with paragraph 32 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) 
which states that development should achieve safe and suitable access for all 
people and should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where 
the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.   

26. While the Council also cited conflict with saved Policy H2 in their decision 
notice, this contains no specific criteria in respect of highway safety and as 
such I consider that on this matter there is no conflict.  However, I will come 
back to this in the ‘Other Matters’ section of my decision, below.  

Planning Obligation  

27. While the appropriate LP policy in respect of affordable housing was not saved, 
both parties agree that the proposal generates a need for 30% affordable 
housing.  The failure to secure affordable housing within a scheme for 30 units 
would be contrary to the aims of paragraph 47 of the Framework, with regard 
to the need to meet local needs for affordable housing and paragraph 50, 
which identifies a preference for meeting affordable housing needs on-site.  
The provision of affordable housing is also a key aspect of the social element of 
sustainable development, as set out at paragraph 7 of the Framework. I am 
therefore satisfied that the provision of affordable housing is a necessary 
requirement.   

28. In the event of the appeal being allowed, the Council suggested that planning 
permission should be subject to a condition that sought to secure the proposed 
affordable housing on the site.  The appellant also considered a condition to be 

Page 38



Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/16/3156914 
 

 

5 

a suitable mechanism to secure this.  However, the PPG advises that a 
negatively worded condition limiting the development that can take place until 
an obligation has been agreed is unlikely to be appropriate other than in 
exceptional circumstances such as in the case of more complex and 
strategically important development, where there is clear evidence that the 
delivery of the development would be put at risk1.   

29. A discussion took place at the Hearing whereby the Council were clear that no 
such exceptional circumstances exist.  Rather, the Council considered that a 
condition is a reasonable response to the grant of outline planning consent and 
that the details could then be expected to be provided alongside any reserved 
matters application.  It was also put to me that such a condition represents a 
pro-growth mechanism which would not delay otherwise acceptable 
development.  Extracts from a recent Appeal Decision2 were also provided 
whereby the Inspector considered that a condition would be effective in 
securing affordable housing and to dismiss the appeal due to a lack of such an 
obligation would not be consistent with the need to boost significantly the 
supply of housing.  

30. The PPG is explicit and I do not consider that the proposed development, given 
its modest scale and straightforward nature, is the more complex and 
strategically important development to which the exception applies.  In respect 
of the Council’s pro-growth argument, I am mindful that the PPG is also clear 
that ensuring that any planning obligation or other agreement is entered into 
prior to granting planning permission is the best way to deliver sufficient 
certainty for all parties about what is being agreed as well as ensuring that 
such agreements are undertaken in a timely manner and in the interests of 
transparency.   

31. On this basis, the circumstances of this case are as such that I do not consider 
that the Council’s position is reasonable or effective and without an obligation 
securing affordable housing, the proposed development would be in conflict 
with the Framework.   

32. Moreover, while I accept that the Inspector in the abovementioned appeal took 
a different view, I do not possess full details of all of the considerations that 
applied in that case.  In light of the advice contained within the PPG, I do not 
consider that it should be seen as setting a precedent for all applications where 
affordable housing is a consideration.   

33. In light of the above, the parties were given the opportunity to submit a 
planning obligation to deal with this matter following the close of the 
Hearing.  I have reviewed the obligation, submitted as a unilateral undertaking, 
and in considering that the planning obligation is necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms, I am satisfied that this is both 
directly and reasonably related to the proposal.   

34. Accordingly, on this matter I now conclude that the planning obligation meets 
the three tests stated in paragraph 204 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (the Framework) and Regulations 122 and 123 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) Regulations 2015. 

                                        
1 Planning Practice Guidance ID 21a-010-20140306 
2 APP/A2525/W/16/3151299 dated 01 September 2016 

Page 39



Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/16/3156914 
 

 

6 

Other Matters 

35. A number of trees are located within and adjacent to the site, which are 
protected by 2 separate Tree Protection Orders.3  Local residents have raised 
concern in respect of impacts upon and loss of trees which would be necessary 
to facilitate the site access.  The submitted Tree Survey identifies that  out of 
the 26 protected trees (plus a number of fruit trees and 4 pollarded limes) the 
proposed access would affect the category A TPO lime trees T6 – T8 with T7 
and T8 would have to be removed and the root protection area (RPA) for T6 
would most likely be disturbed.  However, at the Hearing it was established 
that it would in fact be T6 and T7 which would be removed and the RPA for T8 
being affected.  

36. The affected trees form part of a larger wider group which runs along the 
northern and eastern boundary of the appeal site.  As a group, they have 
significant amenity value in the local context.  However, the majority of trees 
would be retained and the protection and preservation of these would be 
secured at reserved matters stage.  In respect of T6 and T7, these would be 
felled, however, I find that the overall amenity value of the group would not be 
compromised by the loss of 2 trees.  Furthermore, I am satisfied that suitable 
protection measures could be conditioned in respect of T8 to ensure that this 
tree would not be adversely affected by development of the access within the 
RPA.  I am also mindful that landscaping proposals, as a reserved matter, could 
also secure additional planting.  On this basis, I do not consider that the loss of 
2 protected trees would warrant the refusal of the development.  

37. Concern has been raised in respect of the compatibility of the proposed 
residential development with neighbouring uses of the site.  This includes noise 
from the adjacent Graves Park Social Club in respect of evening functions, and 
the Allium and Brassica Centre in respect of deliveries which can occur out of 
hours.  Both of these businesses are located to the east of the appeal site.   

38. However, based on the submitted noise assessment, I do not consider that 
there would be any significant conflict between these uses and the residential 
development.  Furthermore, I also note that the revised indicative site layout 
plan indicates that development would be pulled away from the eastern 
boundary and I am satisfied that any concerns could be addressed as part of 
the future reserved matters application.  

39. Similarly, issues in respect of the use of the sports pitches at the social club 
and risk of cricket balls or footballs straying into the proposed dwellings, as 
well as security lighting, affecting the amenity of future occupants of the 
development would be dealt with at detailed design stage as part of the 
reserved matters.   

40. I am satisfied that concerns with regard to drainage could be adequately dealt 
with by an appropriate condition.  I am also mindful that there are no 
objections from the Environment Agency and the Internal Drainage Board.   

41. It is understood that there is the potential for contamination following a tyre 
fire in 2003, adjacent to the appeal site.  The submitted contamination report is 
a significant age, nonetheless this was undertaken following the fire and 
concluded that concentrations of contaminants were within acceptable limits.  I 

                                        
3 Kirton and Frampton Tree Preservation Order No 1 (1957) and Kirton Tree Protection Order No 2 (1969) 

Page 40



Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/16/3156914 
 

 

7 

therefore consider that this issue could be adequately dealt with by the 
imposition of a condition.  

42. The Parish Council and the Ward Member have raised a general concern in 
respect of the amount of development within Kirton and it is stated that over 
300 houses have been built since 2011.  While the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan is at an early stage which limits the weight I can attach to it, I am 
aware that Kirton is identified as one of 9 Main Service Centres.  The Council is 
currently unable to demonstrate a 5-year housing supply and the Framework 
seeks to boost significantly the supply of housing.  I consider that Kirton is a 
sustainable settlement with a number of services and facilities and the 
development of up to 30 dwellings on a site where I have found no 
demonstrable harm would help to address this shortfall.  

43. Finally in respect of Policy H2, it was agreed at the Hearing and within the 
SOCG that this relates to the supply of housing and, in light of a lack of 5 year 
housing land supply, was out of date in accordance with paragraph 49 of the 
Framework and should only be afforded limited weight.  Nonetheless, as an 
adopted development plan policy which seeks to deliver housing on suitable 
sites, I find no conflict with this policy.  

Conditions 

44. In addition to the standard conditions relating to the timescales for approval of 
reserved matters, I have required the development to be carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans in the interest of certainty, having 
corrected the references, as agreed in the Hearing.  

45. I have imposed conditions in respect of flood mitigation measures and drainage 
to ensure that there are no adverse impacts upon the living conditions of future 
residents of the site and local residents.  Given the nature of the condition, 
drainage details are necessary prior to the commencement of the development.  

46. A condition in respect of open space requirements and implementation is 
necessary at outline stage in order to ensure that satisfactory amenity space 
would be provided, in accordance with Policy H4 of the LP.  As previously 
discussed, a pre-commencement condition in respect of contaminated land is 
necessary, however I have consolidated and amended the suggested conditions 
in order to be more precise.   

47. I have imposed a condition in respect of the access which is necessary for 
highway safety reasons.  While parties considered that the widening of the 
footpath would be secured by the plans condition and the suggested highways 
condition, this relates to land outside of the control of the appellant.  Detailed 
information in respect of detailed layout and finished surface levels are also not 
given.  Accordingly, and having regard to the conditions suggested by the 
Highways Authority, I have amended the suggested wording of the Council to 
include reference to the footpaths as a Grampian style condition, requiring full 
pre-commencement details of the scheme and ensuring that the works to be 
implemented prior to occupation of any dwelling.   

48. Furthermore, as part of the above condition, I have made reference to a no-dig 
construction method.  While this was omitted from the Council’s suggested list 
of conditions, as discussed at the Hearing, it is considered that such measures 

Page 41



Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/16/3156914 
 

 

8 

are necessary to preserve the character and appearance of the area, in respect 
of protected trees and the RPA of T8 in particular.   

49. As the site lies in an area of archaeological importance relating to Bozon Hall 
and its associated settlement, it is necessary to impose a condition in respect 
of archaeological works.  Due to the scope and nature of the works, it is 
necessary that this is pre-commencement.  Finally, in light of the Planning 
Obligation, and my discussion above, I have omitted the condition in respect of 
affordable housing as this is not reasonable or necessary.   

Conclusion 

50. I have found that the development complies with relevant Local Plan policies 
and there are no specific policies within the Framework that indicate that 
development should be restricted in this case.   

51. Therefore, in accordance with paragraph 14 of the Framework, I conclude that 
the appeal should be allowed and planning permission granted, subject to the 
conditions discussed above.  

C Searson 
INSPECTOR 

  

Page 42



Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/16/3156914 
 

 

9 

 
APPEARANCES 
 
FOR THE APPELLANT: 
 
Chris Atkinson                            Barton Willmore 
David Sagstad 
Ian Hall 

Development Planning Ltd 
Appellant’s relative and joint site owner 

 
FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY: 

Paul Edwards 
Ian Turvey 
John Taylor 
Cllr Michael Cooper 
 

Development Control Manager 
Turvey Consultancy Limited 
Senior Planner 
Borough Councillor 
 

 
INTERESTED PERSONS:  

Cllr Colin Brotherton Borough Councillor and Ward Member for Kirton 
Cllr Alison Austin Borough Councillor and Chair of Planning 

Committee 
Ian Turner Chairman Kirton Parish Council 
Jon Clubb  Chairman Graves Park Social Club 
John Fitzgerald Future resident of Kirton 
 
PLANS AND DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED AT THE HEARING 
 
1 

 
Appellant’s written application for costs.  

2 Additional plans relating to visibility splays from and to site 
access, and illustrating the length of highway available for vehicle 
queues  

3 Completed Statement of Common Ground 
4 Appeal Decision Ref: APP/A2525/W/16/3151299 (partial copy – 

pages 1, 5-10).  
5 Copy of Policy H4 from the Boston Borough Local Plan 1999 

 
  

Page 43



Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/16/3156914 
 

 

10 

Schedule of Conditions 

1) Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter 
called "the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority before any development takes 
place and the development shall be carried out as approved. 

2) Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the 
local planning authority not later than 3 years from the date of this 
permission. 

3) The development hereby permitted shall take place not later than 2 years 
from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 
approved. 

4) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans: 

(i) Site Location Plan – 1:2500. 
(ii) Block Plan Ref: 201414-01 B 
(iii) Visibility Splay Plan Ref: DPL SK008 B 

5) The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment prepared by 
ARP Associates (Ref’ 800/371r2 dated February 2016) and in particular 
the following mitigation measures:  

 Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 1.0m above 
existing ground level;  

 Flood resilient construction shall be incorporated throughout the 
development as stated;  

 All dwellings shall be a minimum of two storeys.  

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation. 

6) No development shall take place until a surface water drainage scheme 
for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment 
of the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall:  

(i) Provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and 
attenuated during storms up to and including the 1 in 100 year 
critical storm event, with an allowance for climate change, 
from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the 
existing local drainage infrastructure and watercourse system 
without exceeding the run-off rate for the undeveloped site; 

(ii) Provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be 
restricted to 1.4 litres per second per hectare;  

(iii) Provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of 
implementation for the drainage scheme; and  

(iv) Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and 
managed over the lifetime of the development which shall 
include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority 
or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure 
the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.  

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
drainage scheme and no dwelling shall be occupied until the approved 
scheme has been completed or provided on the site in accordance with 

Page 44



Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/16/3156914 
 

 

11 

the approved phasing. The approved scheme shall be retained and 
maintained in full in accordance with the approved details. 

7) The detailed layout shall incorporate an area or areas of public amenity 
open space/children's play area comprising not less than 7.5% of the 
gross site area. The area(s) of public amenity open space which shall 
include the provision of play equipment shall be laid out in a manner to 
be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and made available 
for use before 50% of dwellings constructed on the application site are 
first occupied. This area shall not at any time be incorporated within the 
curtilage of a dwelling. 

8) No development shall commence until an assessment of the risks posed 
by any contamination, carried out in accordance with British Standard BS 
10175: Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - Code of Practice 
and the Environment Agency’s Model Procedures for the Management of 
Land Contamination (CLR 11) (or equivalent British Standard and Model 
Procedures if replaced), shall have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. If any contamination is found, a 
report specifying the measures to be taken, including the timescale, to 
remediate the site to render it suitable for the approved development 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The site shall be remediated in accordance with the approved 
measures and timescale and a verification report shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  If, during the 
course of development, any contamination is found which has not been 
previously identified, work shall be suspended and additional measures 
for its remediation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The remediation of the site shall incorporate the 
approved additional measures and a verification report for all the 
remediation works shall be submitted to the local planning authority 
within 10 days of the report being completed and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. 

9) No development shall commence until a detailed scheme for highway 
works comprising of details of visibility splays and off-site highway 
improvement works to the footpath, as shown on drawing number DPL 
SK008 Rev B has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  This shall include for no-dig construction in the root 
protection area of protected tree T8.  Thereafter, no dwelling shall be 
occupied before the off-site works and first 50 metres of estate road from 
its junction with the public highway, has been completed.  

10) No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological 
work has been implemented in accordance with a written scheme of 
investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. 
 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0409

Erection of electronic gates at site entrance.

Land of Sibsey Road   Boston   PE21 9RN

Applicant:
Charlotte Dew

Larkfleet Homes

Page 47

Agenda Item 2



P
age 48



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

Planning Committee – 14 January 2020 
 

 

Reference No: B/19/0409  
 
Expiry Date:  25-Nov-2019 
Extension of Time: 15-Jan-2020  
 
Application Type: Full Planning Permission 
Proposal:  Erection of electronic gates at site entrance  
Site:   Land off Sibsey Road, Boston, PE21 9RN 
 
Applicant:  Charlotte Dew, Larkfleet Homes 
   
Ward:           Fishtoft Parish: Fishtoft Parish Council 
   
Case Officer:          Trevor Thompson 
 
Link to Application: B/19/0409  
 

Third Party Reps: None 
 

Recommendation: GRANT 
 

 
1.0 Reason for Report 

 
1.1 This report has been presented to the Planning Committee at the request of 

Councillor J Skinner. 

Page 49

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


 

 

 
1.2 Councillor Skinner has made the following comments: 

 
‘My reasons for calling this application in is a highways issue, there is no information 
as to how long it will take the gates to open and it could be possible that a 
delivery/service lorry could be waiting to get into the development when other 
vehicles also wanting access will have to wait on the A16 to also access the 
development. My concerns are for Ambulances going out from the hospital on blue 
lights. Other traffic are already restricted for getting out of the Ambulances way 
because of the island created for pedestrians to cross the road in this area. 
 
The developers had already offered a solution to a known problem when they put 
in the original application, that is a management company to police parking. If the 
roads are not to be adopted it is for them to police it.’ 

 
2.0 Application Site and Proposal 
 
2.1      The application site boundary is about 9m wide and 20m long. It includes part of the 

site entrance and estate road that forms part of the new housing estate off Sibsey 
Road, Fishtoft. The site boundary does not follow any physical feature on site but 
defines the area where the proposed works will take place. 

  
2.2      This application is for the construction of walls with electric gates to serve the new 

housing estate at the site entrance. The purpose of the new walls and gates is to 
ensure that pedestrian and vehicular traffic flows to and from the site are estate 
related only and not overspill from the Pilgrim Hospital which is located on the 
opposite side of Sibsey Road. 

 
2.3 The proposed gates will be set back about 11 m from the junction of the new housing 

estate road and the A16 and will be approximately 1.8m in height. One gate will run 
across the estate road and will be about 5.7m wide – this will be a sliding gate. The 
other gate will run across the footpath on the northern side of the estate road leading 
to the rest of the estate to the east. This gate will be about 1.3m wide. 

 
2.4 Part of the footpath that is to be located to the south of the new estate road along 

Sibsey Road and follows the access radii will effectively be ‘closed off’ by the 
proposed new wall. It is proposed to display a sign on the front elevation (Sibsey 
Road) of this new wall advertising ‘Welcome to Boston Gate Est 2019’. 

 
2.5 The proposed walls and associated piers which will be located either side of the 

estate road will support the proposed pedestrian and vehicular gates. The walls will 
be about 2m high (including the coping) and will be arranged in a crescent shape 
either side of the road to provide visual interest to the entrance to this estate.  

 
2.6 In support of the application, the applicant has made the following statement: 
 

‘The reasoning behind the application was linked to previous discussions between 
our technical team and the highways authority. Multiple residents complained about 
parking on the site by those visiting the hospital. Our technical team and highways 
discussed different solutions to this issue. The concept of gates was not necessarily 
to be used as a physical barrier, but more of a deterrent to stop hospital users 
parking on the site.  

 

Page 50



 

 

Double yellowing the site is not a plausible solution as this will cause issues not 
only for those living on the development but, also the fact the development is 
managed, maintained and privately owned (bar the adopted highways).  

 
The gate would be operated by a pressure plate either side, so it will open on the 
approach to it. The gate is there to deter people from entering, rather than creating 
a physical boundary. So delivery drivers and emergency vehicles will be able to 
gain access without the need for a key or fob. More than likely the gates will remain 
open, during peak periods of in and out flows of traffic, as they will be activated 
using sensors. Although during peak traffic periods the gates will remain open, their 
physical presents should help to deter excessive visitor parking. The gates are 
activated using sensors and thus, it is unlikely the gates will repletely open and 
close every time an individual car enters or exists the site. Therefore, we are 
doubtful the gates will cause tailbacks’.  

 
3.0 Relevant History 
 
3.1 Planning permission was granted for the erection of 66 dwellings on land to the east 

of Sibsey Road subject to 19 conditions in June 2017 (ref B/16/0141) 

 
4.0 Relevant Policy 
 
          South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) (SELLP) 
 
4.1     Relevant policies contained within the SELLP are as follows: 
 

 Policy 2 - Development Management 
 Policy 3 - Design of new development 
 Policy 30 - Pollution 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (NPPF) 

 
4.2 The relevant parts of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) that are 

relevant to this proposal are: 
 
 Section 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities 
 Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport  

 
4.3 In particular, paragraphs 108, 109 and 110 of the NPPF states: 
 

108. In assessing sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific 
applications for development, it should be ensured that: 
 
a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or 
have been – taken up, given the type of development and its location; 
 
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and 
 
c) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms 
of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively 
mitigated to an acceptable degree. 
 

Page 51



 

 

 
 
109. Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 
110. Within this context, applications for development should: 
 
a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme 
and with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating 
access to high quality public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment 
area for bus or other public transport services, and appropriate facilities that 
encourage public transport use; 
b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to 
all modes of transport; 
c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the scope 
for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street 
clutter, and respond to local character and design standards; 
d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency 
vehicles; and 
e) be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles 
in safe, accessible and convenient locations. 

 
5.0 Representations 
 
5.1 As a result of publicity no representations have been received.  

 
6.0 Consultations 
 
6.1      Fishtoft Parish Council has made the following comments; 

 
 ‘concerns with regard to delivery vehicles accessing the site, particularly with a 
large number of properties on the site, could cause tailbacks onto Sibsey Road 
which would exacerbate the issues already experienced for vehicles accessing 
Pilgrim Hospital, particularly emergency vehicles. If the purpose of the proposal is 
merely to stop unauthorised parking, a more sensible solution would be for double 
yellow lines – as per the precedent set on Burton Close’ 

 
6.2 County Highways Authority has no objections and has made the following 

comments: 
 

‘The electronic gates could possibly cause some queue back onto Sibsey Road, if 
they were slow in opening, if there were several vehicles arriving at one time faster 
than the gates were able to operate or if the gates were to fail, say because of a 
power failure. 
 
However, the drivers of following vehicles would not be expected to simply slam 
into the back of the last vehicle in a queue of waiting vehicles. Vehicles are routinely 
slowing and stationary on this part of the network and elsewhere without there being 
unacceptable safety implications. 
 
 

Page 52



 

 

 
 
I think we would need to monitor the situation and talk with the Developers in the 
event that there were some significant problems but on the evidence of what we 
have before us, I don't (believe) there is enough to advise refusal of the Application. 
 
The gates are being proposed in response to issues the Developers has advised 
they are having with those who are not residents of the development parking on the 
internal roads. If your Members are concerned about the possibility of tail-backs 
onto Sibsey Road, could we ask the Developer to provide some evidence of the 
scale of the issue and then take a view on whether the problem justifies the solution 
they are proposing?  

 
6.3 Boston Borough Council Operations Manager has not commented. 

 
6.4 Witham Fourth District Internal Drainage Board has no comment 

 
7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 
 
7.1 The key planning issues in the determination of this application are: 

 
 Impact on highway safety 
 Impact on residential amenity 
 Impact on the character of the area 

7.2 One of the key issues in the determination of this application is the impact on 
highway safety and whether, in particular, the installation of the proposed electronic 
gates will result in tailbacks onto Sibsey Road which may result in congestion or 
cause harm to highway safety. Although it is intended to install a pedestrian gate 
across the footway at the entrance to the estate off Sibsey Road, it should be noted 
that the layout of the estate includes a separate pedestrian access onto Wainfleet 
Road, through the public open space. 
 

7.3 This application has been subject to discussions with the County Highway Authority 
at pre application stage. The County Highway Authority has no objections though 
the Fishtoft Parish Council has concerns as indicated above. 
 

7.4 Fishtoft Parish Council has suggested that double yellow line are applied on the 
roads serving this estate to prevent excessive on-street parking that may arise given 
the site is opposite the Pilgrim Hospital. However, the estate roads will be privately 
owned and will not be adopted by the County Council. Thus, any vehicle parked on 
double yellow lines that may be applied to any of the estate roads would not be 
enforceable.   
 

7.5 At the time application B/16/0141 (i.e. the permission for this estate) was 
determined, it was intended that a management company would be used to enforce 
unauthorized parking along the private roads forming part of this estate, especially 
by staff and visitors of the Pilgrim Hospital. It appears that the applicants do not wish 
to pursue this option because there are difficult practical and legal issues relating to 
clamping and enforcement of unauthorized parking on private land. Therefore, it 
would appear there is little deterrent to prevent unauthorized parking.  
 
 

Page 53



 

 

 
 

7.6 The applicant says that occupiers of properties on this estate are already 
experiencing difficulties with hospital users parking their vehicles on the estate 
roads and has submitted photographs of parked vehicles demonstrating this point. 
It would appear that the applicant is constantly requesting hospital users to move 
their vehicles off the estate during the daytime though unauthorised on–street 
parking during the evenings and at weekends also seems to be a problem. It also 
seems that unauthorised parking is already causing some ‘conflict’ between 
residents of the estate and hospital users who park their vehicles on the estate 
roads. 
 

7.7 The applicant says that ‘at the moment inconsiderate parking is a major problem 
and it is effecting our sales office as people are blocking the parking area for the 
show house; our purchasers who can’t get into their own homes; and our 
construction team as it is making difficulties for deliveries etc’.  
 

7.8 Policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP are the most relevant policies of the development 
plan, these seek to ensure good design through a variety of criteria, in particular 
considering matters relating to access (for example policy 2 criteria 4) and general 
issues such as accessibility and layout. The reasoned justification of Policy 2 of the 
SELLP seeks amongst other things to ensure ‘development does not have an 
adverse impact upon physical or social infrastructure such as local roads, schools 
or health care…’ Furthermore, paragraph 109 of the NPPF says that ‘Development 
should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the 
road network would be severe’. 
 

7.9 The proposed gates will be set back about 11m from the main road and it should be 
noted that this distance would only accommodate two cars (or perhaps one large 
commercial vehicle) to wait clear of Sibsey Road when the gates are closed. This 
is clearly of some concerns and the views of the Fishtoft Parish Council and 
Councillor J Skinner are understandable. However, the perception of the impact (ie 
that vehicles would be obstructed) must be balanced against the technical response 
and available evidence. 
 

7.10 Unauthorised parking is clearly causing highway related problems and although a 
gated access is not an ideal solution, it seems to be the most practical option 
available. As indicated above, parking restrictions (double yellow lines) cannot be 
undertaken because the estate roads are private and not adoptable highways. It is 
clear that the County Highway Authority do not object to the proposals from a 
technical perspective relating to congestion or highway safety and consider that the 
scheme is an appropriate response in highway terms. Given this lack of objection, 
it is considered that a refusal on such grounds would be unlikely to be sustainable 
at Appeal. 
 

7.11 It should also be noted that the although the County Highway Authority encourage 
that all new roads and footways on all new residential developments are adopted, 
the County Highway Authority cannot compel a developer to do so. Under the 
Highways Act, a developer can request that the Highway Authority adopts their 
roads, but also provides the Highway Authority with the ability to refuse to adopt 
those roads if the Authority is of the opinion that they are not of sufficient utility to 
the public.  

 

Page 54



 

 

 
 
 This is however a matter for the developer and the Highway Authority. Further, the 

control over vehicles using the estate roads is not a planning matter, and in this 
instance, the Council is only considering whether it is acceptable in policy terms, to 
install the physical development namely the gates and walls. Other solutions to the 
problem would fall outside of the planning remit. 
 

7.12 Overall, given the lack of objection from the Highway Authority on grounds relating 
to highway safety, it is considered that a refusal on such grounds would be 
unlikely to be sustainable at Appeal. It is considered that this development will not 
cause unacceptable or significant impact on highway safety and that residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network as a result of this development would not 
be ‘severe’ to warrant refusal of this application. It is considered that this proposal 
accords with the objectives of policy 2 of the SELLP and paragraph 109 of the 
NPPF. 

 
 Impact on residential amenity 
 
7.13 The proposed wall and gates will be set back from Sibsey Road and will be between 

7-9m from the nearest dwellings located either side of the entrance to the site (i.e. 
plots 5 and 65). The design and siting of the walls and gates will not affect visual 
amenity, nor will the operation of the gates opening and closing likely cause any 
significant noise disturbance to the nearby residents. The concerns expressed by 
the Parish Council with regards the potential for tailbacks to occur on Sibsey Road 
( and possibly along the estate road) may have some impact upon residential 
amenity but such harm, given the scale and nature of such disturbance, will not be 
significant or substantial. 

 
7.14 The issue relating to unauthorized parking on the estate roads (especially by 

hospital users) appears to be causing some conflict with occupants of the estate 
which, in turn, is clearly having some effect on residential amenity and the 
enjoyment of property of these residents. The proposed gates will go some way 
towards minimizing this conflict and improving the amenity of residents. No 
objections have been received by any existing residents of this estate to this 
proposal. 

 
7.15 The counterpoint to this is that it may be argued that the provision of a ‘gated access’ 

may create an ‘gated community’ which may be at odds with the objectives of 
section 8 of the NPPF and policy 3 of the SELLP which collectively seeks to promote 
social and community adhesion and interaction. This factor weighs against the 
application in the planning balance.  

 
 Impact on the character of the area 
 
7.16 The site forms part of a large housing estate that is under construction and opposite 

the Pilgrim Hospital. There are residential properties along the frontage of Sibsey 
Road to the north and there is an AW pumping station further to the south. The 
proposed gates and associated walls are of good design. They will be set back from 
the main road and will assimilate within the overall design and characteristics of the 
rest of the estate. From a design perspective, the scheme will provide visual interest 
at the entrance of this estate and is acceptable. 
 

Page 55



 

 

 
8.0 Summary and Conclusion 

 
8.1 There are factors that weigh both in favour and against this application. On one 

hand, concerns have been expressed about the impact that this development may 
have upon highway safety and will cause tail-backs onto Sibsey Road resulting in 
congestion and other highway issues. Also as indicated above, the proposed gates 
may also create a ‘gated community’ which conflicts with the objectives of policy 3 
of the SELLP in relation to integration and accessibility, and therefore does not 
constitute sustainable development as defined in the NPPF. 

 
8.2 On the other hand, this development will provide some amenity and highway 

benefits, especially to the existing and future occupiers of this estate that weigh in 
favour of this application. As indicated above, unauthorized on-street parking along 
the estate road especially by users of the Pilgrim Hospital is already causing 
highway problems and conflicts between motorists and residents. This application 
will help to alleviate these problems. The design of the proposed wall and gates is 
of good quality though condition 3 below is recommended to ensure good quality 
materials are used.  Also, in terms of highway safety, significant weight is attributed 
to the comments of the County Highway Authority who have raised no technical 
objections to the scheme. The scheme being in general accordance with the overall 
requirements of policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP, and paragraphs 108-110 of the 
NPPF. 
 

8.3 When taken as a whole, it is considered that the proposals would be in accordance 
with the aims of the development plan, in particular those policies identified within 
this report. Whilst there are material considerations within this report which both 
weigh in favour of and some which way against the scheme, overall, it is considered 
that on balance the benefits of the scheme would outweigh the negatives identified 
and given the scheme would be in general accordance with the policies of the 
development plan it is recommended that the application be approved. 

 
9.0 Recommendation 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Committee GRANT Planning Permission subject to the 

following condition(s) and reason:- 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Complsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with 

the application received 30-Sep-2019 and in accordance with the associated 
plans referenced:  
 

 Entrance gate location plan ref L161/EGP/01 
 Entrance gate – site layout –preliminary ref  L161/SITE/01 
 Entrance gate- plan and elevation- preliminary ref L161/ENTRY/01 

 

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the 
approved   details and to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036). 

Page 56



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.   No development shall take place above ground level until details of the materials 

to be used on the external surfaces shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity and to accord with the objectives of 
Policies 2, 3 and 23 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
 
In determining this application the authority has taken account of the guidance in 
paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 in order to seek to secure 
sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions 
of the Borough. 
 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	B MINUTES
	1 PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0317
	Report
	Appendix 1  Appeal Decision

	2 PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0409
	Report


